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SUMMARY
This Statement of Position (SOP) provides guidance on
generally accepted accounting principles for all kinds of
films, except where specifically noted, and is applicable to
all producers or distributors that own or hold rights to dis
tribute or exploit films. For purposes of this SOP, films are
defined as feature films, television specials, television se
ries, or similar products (including animated films and
television programming) that are sold, licensed, or exhib
ited, whether produced on film, video tape, digital or other
video recording format. The SOP requires, among other
things, the following.
• An entity should recognize revenue from a sale or
licensing arrangement of a film when all of the follow
ing conditions are met.
- Persuasive evidence of a sale or licensing arrange
ment with a customer exists.
- The film is complete and, in accordance with the
terms of the arrangement, has been delivered or is
available for immediate and unconditional delivery.
- The license period of the arrangement has begun
and the customer can begin its exploitation, exhibi
tion, or sale.
- The arrangement fee is fixed or determinable.
- Collection of the arrangement fee is reasonably
assured.
If an entity does not meet any one of the preceding
conditions, the entity should defer recognizing rev
enue until all of the conditions are met.
• If a licensing arrangement covering a single film pro
vides that an entity will receive a flat fee, then the
amount of that fee is considered fixed and deter
minable. In such instances, the entity should recog
nize the entire amount of the license fee as revenue
when it has met all of the other revenue recognition
conditions.
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• An entity’s arrangement fee may be based on a per
centage or share of a customer’s revenue from the
exhibition or other exploitation of a film. In such in
stances, and when the entity meets all of the other
revenue recognition conditions, the entity should
recognize revenue as the customer exhibits or exploits
the film.
•

In certain licensing arrangements that provide for vari
able fees, a customer guarantees and pays or agrees to
pay an entity a nonrefundable minimum amount that
is applied against the variable fees on a film or films
that are not cross-collateralized. In such arrange
ments, the amount of the nonrefundable minimum
guarantee is considered fixed and determinable, and
the entity should recognize the minimum guarantee
as revenue when it has met all of the other revenue
recognition conditions.

•

If a licensing arrangement provides for a nonrefund
able minimum guarantee that is applied against vari
able fees from a group of films on a cross-collateralized
basis, the amount of the minimum guarantee applica
ble to each film cannot be objectively determined.
Consequently, the entity should recognize revenue as
the customer exhibits or exploits the film. If, at the
end of the license period, a portion of the nonrefund
able minimum guarantee remains unearned, an entity
should recognize the remaining guarantee as revenue
by allocating it to the individual films based on their
relative performance under the arrangement.

• The costs of producing a film and bringing that film
to market consist of film costs, participation costs,
exploitation costs, and manufacturing costs.
• An entity should report film costs as a separate asset
on its balance sheet.
• An entity should amortize film costs and accrue (ex
pense) participation costs using the individual-filmforecast-computation method, which amortizes or
accrues (expenses) such costs in the same ratio that
current period actual revenue (numerator) bears to
5

estimated remaining unrecognized ultimate revenue as
of the beginning of the current fiscal year (denomina
tor). An entity should begin amortization of capitalized
film costs and accrual (expensing) of participation
costs when a film is released and it begins to recognize
revenue from that film.
Ultimate revenue to be included in the denominator of
the individual-film-forecast-computation method frac
tion is subject to the limitations set forth in this SOP.
If an event or change in circumstance indicates that
an entity should assess whether the fair value of a film
is less than its unamortized film costs, the entity
should determine the fair value of the film (the de
termination of which is affected by estimated future
exploitation costs still to be incurred) and write off to
the income statement the amount by which the un
amortized capitalized costs exceeds the film’s fair
value. An entity should not subsequently restore any
amounts written off in previous fiscal years.
An entity should account for advertising costs in accor
dance with the provisions of SOP 93-7, Reporting on
Advertising Costs. All other exploitation costs, includ
ing marketing costs, should be expensed as incurred.
An entity should charge manufacturing and/or duplica
tion costs of products for sale, such as videocassettes
and digital video discs, to expense on a unit-specific
basis when the related product revenue is recognized.
This SOP is effective for financial statements for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2000. Earlier ap
plication is encouraged. The cumulative effect of
changes in accounting principles caused by adopting
the provisions of this SOP should be included in the
determination of net income in conformity with para
graph 20 of Accounting Principles Board (APB) Opin
ion No. 20, Accounting Changes. Disclosure of pro
forma effects of retroactive application (APB Opinion
20, paragraph 21) is not required. An entity should not
restate previously issued annual financial statements.
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FOREWORD
The accounting guidance contained in this document has
been cleared by the Financial Accounting Standards Board
(FASB). The procedure for clearing accounting guidance in
documents issued by the Accounting Standards Executive
Committee (AcSEC) involves the FASB reviewing and dis
cussing in public board meetings (1) a prospectus for a pro
ject to develop a document, (2) a proposed exposure draft
that has been approved by at least ten of AcSEC’s fifteen
members, and (3) a proposed final document that has been
approved by at least ten of AcSEC’s fifteen members. The
document is cleared if at least five of the seven FASB mem
bers do not object to AcSEC undertaking the project, issu
ing the proposed exposure draft or, after considering the
input received by AcSEC as a result of the issuance of the
exposure draft, issuing the final document.
The criteria applied by the FASB in its review of proposed
projects and proposed documents include the following.
1. The proposal does not conflict with current or proposed
accounting requirements, unless it is a limited circum
stance, usually in specialized industry accounting, and
the proposal adequately justifies the departure.
2. The proposal will result in an improvement in practice.
3. The AICPA demonstrates the need for the proposal.
4. The benefits of the proposal are expected to exceed
the costs of applying it.
In many situations, prior to clearance, the FASB will propose
suggestions, many of which are included in the documents.
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Accounting by Producers or
Distributors of Films
Introduction and Background
1.

In 1981, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 53,
Financial Reporting by Producers and Distributors of Motion
Picture Films. FASB Statement No. 53 extracted specialized

accounting and reporting principles and practices from the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA)
Industry Accounting Guide Accounting fo r Motion Picture
Films, and AICPA Statement of Position (SOP) 79-4, A c 
counting fo r Motion Picture Films, and established financial
accounting and reporting standards for producers or dis
tributors of films.1
2.

Since FASB issued FASB Statement No. 53, extensive
changes have occurred in the film industry. Through 1981,
the majority of a film’s revenue resulted from distribution
to movie theaters and free television. Since that time, nu
merous additional forms of exploitation (such as home
video, satellite and cable television, and pay-per-view tele
vision) have come into existence, and international rev
enue has increased in significance. Concurrent with these
changes, significant variations in the application of FASB
Statement No. 53 have arisen.

3.

In 1995, in response to concerns raised by constituents,
the FASB requested that the AcSEC of the AICPA develop
an SOP providing guidance on the accounting and financial
reporting requirements for producers or distributors of films.
In September 1998, the FASB concluded that it would re
scind FASB Statement No. 53 when AcSEC completed its
project. An entity that previously was subject to the require
ments of FASB Statement No. 53 should follow the guidance

1. Terms defined in the glossary are set in boldface type the first time they appear in this SOP.
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in this SOP. This SOP and FASB Statement No. 139, Rescis
sion of FASB Statement No. 53 and Amendments to FASB
Statements No. 63, 89, and 121, are simultaneously effec
tive for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2000.
4.

AcSEC issued an exposure draft of a proposed SOP, Account
ing by Producers and Distributors of Films, on October 16,
1998. AcSEC received twenty-eight comment letters in re
sponse to the exposure draft. See the section entitled
“Basis for Conclusions” for a discussion of AcSEC’s response
to the comment letters received.

Scope
5.

The guidance in this SOP applies to all kinds of films, except
where specifically noted below, and is applicable to all pro
ducers or distributors that own or hold rights to distribute or
exploit films. For purposes of this SOP, films are defined as
feature films, television specials, television series, or similar
products (including animated films and television program
ming) that are sold, licensed, or exhibited, whether pro
duced on film, video tape, digital, or other video recording
format. This SOP does not apply to the following:
a. Activities or transactions within the scope of FASB
Statement No. 50, Financial Reporting in the Record
and Music Industry (For example, accounting for the

creation and distribution of recorded music products
is within the scope of FASB Statement No. 50, whereas
accounting for the cost of acquiring music rights for
use in a film is within the scope of this SOP.)
b. Activities or transactions within the scope of FASB
Statement No. 51, Financial Reporting by Cable Tele
vision Companies
c. Activities or transactions within the scope of FASB
Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting by Broad
casters
d. Activities or transactions within the scope of FASB
Statement No. 86, Accounting fo r the Costs of Com 
puter Software to Be Sold, Leased, or Otherw ise
Marketed
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e. Activities or transactions within the scope of SOP
97-2, Software Revenue Recognition
f.

Products within the scope of Emerging Issues Task
Force (EITF) Issue No. 96-6, “Accounting for the Film
and Software Costs Associated with Developing Enter
tainment and Educational Software Products”

Conclusions
Revenue Recognition—Basic Principles
6.

A licensing arrangement for a single film or multiple films
involves the transfer of a single right or a group of rights.
An entity may license films to customers such as distribu
tors, theaters, exhibitors, or other licensees on either an
exclusive or nonexclusive basis in a particular market and
territory. The terms of licensing arrangements may vary
significantly from contract to contract. In common licens
ing arrangements, the license fee may be fixed in amount
(flat fee) or may be based on a percentage of the customer’s
revenue (variable fee). When based on a percentage of a
customer’s revenue, an arrangement may include a nonre
fundable minimum guarantee, which may be paid in ad
vance or over a license period. The terms of a licensing
arrangement may allow a producer to exercise direct con
trol over the distribution of a film, or may transfer that
control to a distributor, exhibitor, or other licensee.

7.

An entity should recognize revenue from a sale or licensing
arrangement of a film when all of the following conditions
are met.
a. Persuasive evidence of a sale or licensing arrangement
with a customer exists.
b. The film is complete and, in accordance with the
terms of the arrangement, has been delivered or is
available for immediate and unconditional delivery.
c. The license period of the arrangement has begun and
the customer can begin its exploitation, exhibition,
or sale.
d. The arrangement fee is fixed or determinable.

1

1

e. Collection of the arrangement fee is reasonably as
sured.
If an entity does not meet any one of the preceding condi
tions, the entity should defer recognizing revenue until all
of the conditions are met.
8.

If an entity recognizes a receivable in its balance sheet for
advances presently due pursuant to an arrangement for any
form of distribution, exhibition, or exploitation prior to the
date of revenue recognition, or an entity receives cash pay
ments under such an arrangement prior to revenue recogni
tion, it should also recognize an equivalent liability for
deferred revenue until the entity meets all of the conditions
of paragraph 7. If an entity sells or otherwise transfers to a
third party that receivable, the liability for deferred revenue
established pursuant to the preceding sentence should not
be reduced, and revenue for the film should not be recog
nized, until the conditions of paragraph 7 are met. Amounts
scheduled to be received in the future pursuant to an
arrangement for any form of distribution, exploitation, or
exhibition should not be recognized as a receivable prior to
the time those amounts are presently due or have been rec
ognized as revenue pursuant to paragraph 7, if earlier.

Revenue Recognition—Details
Persuasive Evidence of an Arrangement
9.

Persuasive evidence of a licensing arrangement is provided
solely by a contract or other legally enforceable documen
tation that sets forth, at a minimum, the license period, the
film or films affected, the rights transferred, and the con
sideration to be exchanged. An entity should not recognize
revenue if factors raise significant doubt as to the obliga
tion or ability of either party to perform under the terms of
an arrangement.

10.

An entity should have forms of verifiable evidence, such as
a contract, a purchase order, or an online authorization, to
document the mutual understanding of an arrangement.
That evidence should include correspondence received
from the customer that details the mutual understanding of
the arrangement between the customer and the entity, or
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evidence that the customer has acted in accordance with
such arrangement.

Delivery
11.

In a licensing arrangement that requires the physical deliv
ery of a product to a customer, an entity should not recog
nize revenue until such delivery is complete. If a licensing
arrangement is silent about delivery, physical delivery is
required in order to recognize revenue.

12.

Certain licensing arrangements may not require immedi
ate or direct physical delivery of a film to a customer. In
lieu of immediate delivery, an arrangement may provide
the customer with immediate and unconditional access to
a film print held by the entity or authorization for the cus
tomer to order a film laboratory to make the film immedi
ately and unconditionally available for the customer’s use
(a lab access letter). In such cases, if the film is complete
and available for immediate delivery, the entity has met
the conditions of paragraph 7(b).

13.

If a licensing arrangement requires an entity to make sig
nificant changes to a film after its initial availability to a
customer, the arrangement does not meet the delivery con
dition in paragraph 7(b). In such instances, the entity
should not recognize revenue until it makes those signifi
cant changes and meets all of the conditions of paragraph
7. Significant changes are defined as those changes that are
additive to a film; that is, an arrangement requires an en
tity to create new or additional content after the film is ini
tially available to the customer. For example, reshooting a
scene or creating additional special effects are significant
changes. Mere insertion or addition of preexisting film
footage, addition of dubbing or subtitles (which by defini
tion is done to existing footage), removal of offensive lan
guage, reformatting a film to fit a broadcaster’s screen
dimensions, and adjustments to allow for the insertion of
commercials are all examples of changes to a film that are
not significant and do not preclude revenue recognition
prior to their completion. The costs incurred for significant
changes should be added to film costs and subsequently
charged to expense when an entity recognizes the related
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revenue; the costs expected to be incurred for insignificant
changes should be accrued and charged to expense if an
entity begins to recognize revenue from the arrangement
before incurring those costs.
Availability
14.

Certain arrangements restrict a customer from beginning
its initial exploitation, exhibition, or sale of a film. For ex
ample, the imposition of a street date (the initial date when
home video products may be sold or displayed for rental)
defines the period in time when a customer’s exploitation
rights begin. In such instances, an entity should not recog
nize related revenue until the restriction has expired. Ad
ditionally, if conflicting agreements impose restrictions on
the initial exploitation, exhibition, or sale of a film by a
customer in a particular territory or market, an entity
should not recognize revenue until the restrictions lapse
and it meets all of the other conditions of paragraph 7.

Fixed or Determinable Fee
15.

Flat Fees. If a licensing arrangement covering a single film

provides that an entity will receive a flat fee, then the
amount of that fee is considered fixed and determinable. In
such instances, the entity should recognize the entire
amount of the license fee as revenue when it has met all of
the other conditions of paragraph 7.
16.
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If a licensing arrangement provides for a flat fee payable
with respect to multiple films (including films not yet pro
duced or completed), an entity should allocate the amount
of the fee to each individual film, by market and territory
based on relative fair values of the rights to exploit each
film under the licensing arrangement. An entity should
base the allocations to a film or films not yet produced or
completed on the amounts refundable if the entity does not
ultimately complete and deliver the films to the customer.
The entity should allocate the remaining flat fee to com
pleted films based on the relative fair values of the rights to
exploit those films pursuant to the licensing arrangement.
Once made, those allocations should not be subject to later
adjustment. An entity should recognize amounts allocated
to individual films as revenue when it meets all of the con

ditions of paragraph 7 with respect to each individual film
by market and territory. If an entity cannot determine rel
ative fair values of the rights to exploit those films, then the
fee is not fixed or determinable and the entity should not
recognize revenue until it can make such a determination
and it meets all of the conditions of paragraph 7.
17.

Paragraph 7 of FASB Statement No. 121, Accounting fo r
the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and fo r Long-Lived
Assets to Be Disposed Of, provides a hierarchy of methods
for determining fair value. Because quoted market prices
(the most preferred method) are usually not available, an
entity should estimate the fair value of the rights to exploit
an individual film that is part of a multiple film arrange
ment (as discussed in paragraph 16) by using the best in
formation available in the circumstances with the objective
of measuring the amount the entity believes it would have
received had it entered into a license arrangement that
grants the same rights to the film separately rather than as
part of the multiple film arrangement. A discounted cash
flows model is often used to estimate fair value. Paragraphs
39 to 71 of FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Con
cepts No. 7, Using Cash Flow Information and Present
Value in Accounting Measurements, provide guidance on
the traditional and expected cash flow approaches to pre
sent value measurements. An entity’s estimates of cash
flows used in determining the fair value of the rights to ex
ploit an individual film that is part of a multiple film
arrangement should be consistent with the rights granted
for that film under the multiple film arrangement (for ex
ample, the length of the license period, and any limitations
on the method, timing, or frequency of exploitation).

18.

Variable Fees. An entity’s arrangement fee may be based
on a percentage or share of a customer’s revenue from the
exhibition or other exploitation of a film. In such instances,
and when the entity meets all of the conditions of para
graph 7, the entity should recognize revenue as the cus
tomer exhibits or exploits the film.

19.

Nonrefundable M in im u m Guarantees. In certain licens

ing arrangements that provide for variable fees, a customer
guarantees and pays or agrees to pay an entity a nonrefund-
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able minimum amount that is applied against the variable
fees on a film or films that are not cross-collateralized. In
such arrangements, the amount of the nonrefundable min
imum guarantee is considered fixed and determinable, and
the entity should recognize the minimum guarantee as rev
enue when it has met all of the other conditions of para
graph 7.
20.

If a licensing arrangement provides for a nonrefundable
minimum guarantee that is applied against variable fees
from a group of films on a cross-collateralized basis, the
amount of the minimum guarantee applicable to each film
cannot be objectively determined. Consequently, the en
tity should recognize revenue in such arrangements in ac
cordance with the provisions of paragraph 18. If, at the end
of the license period, a portion of the nonrefundable mini
mum guarantee remains unearned, an entity should recog
nize the remaining guarantee as revenue by allocating it to
the individual films based on their relative performance
under the arrangement.

Barter Revenue
21.

An entity sometimes licenses programming to television sta
tions in exchange for a specified amount of advertising time
on those stations. These exchanges qualify as nonmonetary
exchanges and an entity should account for these kinds of
exchanges in accordance with Accounting Principles Board
Opinion (APB) No. 29, Accounting f o r Nonmonetary E x
changes, as interpreted by EITF Issue No. 93-11, “Account
ing for Barter Transactions Involving Barter Credits.”

Modifications of Arrangements
22.
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If, at any time during a licensing arrangement, an entity and
its customer agree to extend an existing arrangement (and
all of the provisions in paragraph 7 are met), the accounting
for the consideration received for the extension depends on
whether the consideration is a flat fee or a variable fee. If
the consideration is a flat fee, the entity should account for
the consideration upon the execution of the extension in
accordance with the provisions of paragraphs 15 and 16 of
this SOP. If the consideration is a variable fee, the entity

should follow the guidance set forth in paragraph 18. If the
consideration is a minimum guarantee, the entity should
follow the guidance set forth in paragraphs 19 and 20.
23.

If, at any time during a licensing arrangement, the parties
agree to change the provisions of the licensing arrange
ment, other than by extending the license period (as dis
cussed in paragraph 22), the entity should consider the
revised arrangement as a new arrangement and account for
it in accordance with the provisions of this SOP. At the
time the old arrangement is terminated, the entity should
accrue and expense associated costs or reverse previously
reported revenue for refunds and concessions (an example
of which is agreeing to a below market rate license fee), to
terminate the old arrangement. For example, if an original
arrangement was a fixed fee and the new arrangement is a
smaller fixed fee with a variable component, the entity
should reduce revenue for the current period for the excess
of the original fixed fee previously reported as revenue over
the new fixed fee and earned variable component to date. It
should also adjust accumulated film cost amortization and
accrued participation costs attributable to that excess. In
addition, the entity should account for the new arrange
ment fee in accordance with this SOP.

Returns and Price Concessions
24.

The contract provisions of an arrangement and an entity’s
policies and past actions related to granting concessions or
accepting product returns can determine whether a fee is
fixed or determinable. For an arrangement that includes a
right-of-return provision or if an entity’s past practices allow
for returns, an entity must meet all of the conditions in FASB
Statement No. 48, Revenue Recognition When Right of Re
turn Exists, in order for it to recognize revenue. Those con
ditions include a requirement that the entity can reasonably
estimate the amount of future returns.

25.

An example of how contractual provisions or an entity’s cus
tomary business practices related to granting price conces
sions can affect the determination of revenue recognition is
as follows. In the home video business, customers may be
granted price concessions on previously purchased and un-
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sold product if an entity subsequently reduces its wholesale
prices (commonly referred to as price protection). In such
cases, an entity should provide appropriate allowances at
the date of revenue recognition. If an entity is unable to rea
sonably and reliably estimate future price concessions, or if
significant uncertainties exist regarding an entity’s ability to
maintain its prices, the corresponding revenue is not fixed
or determinable. Consequently, the entity should not recog
nize revenue until it can make reasonable and reliable esti
mates of the effects of future price changes.

Licensing of Film-Related Products
26.

An entity should not recognize revenue from licensing
arrangements to market film-related products until it re
leases the corresponding film.

Present Value
27.

Revenue recognized in connection with a licensing arrange
ment should represent the present value of the license fee
as of the date that an entity first recognizes the revenue,
computed in accordance with APB Opinion 21, Interest on
Receivables and Payables.

Costs and Expenses
28.

The costs of producing a film and bringing that film to market
consist of film costs, participation costs, exploitation costs,
and manufacturing costs.

Film Costs—Capitalization
29.

An entity should report film costs as a separate asset on its
balance sheet. An entity should account for interest costs
related to the production of a film in accordance with the
provisions in FASB Statement No. 34, Capitalization o f In 
terest Cost.

30.

Production overhead, a component of film costs, includes
allocable costs of individuals or departments with exclusive
or significant responsibility for the production of films.
Production overhead should not include administrative
and general expenses, the costs of certain overall deals, as
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discussed in paragraph 31, or charges for losses on proper
ties sold or abandoned, as discussed in paragraph 32.
31.

An entity may enter into an arrangement known as an over
all deal, whereby it compensates a producer or other cre
ative individual for the exclusive or preferential use of that
party’s creative services. An entity should charge the costs of
overall deals that cannot be identified with specific projects
to expense as they are incurred over the related period of
time. An entity should record a reasonable proportion of
costs of overall deals as specific project film costs to the ex
tent those costs are directly related to the acquisition, adap
tation, or development of specific projects. If related to
properties as discussed in paragraph 32, an entity should in
clude such amounts in the cost of properties subject to the
periodic review. An entity should not allocate to specific pro
ject film costs amounts that it had previously expensed.

32.

Film costs ordinarily include expenditures for properties
(such as film rights to books or stage plays, or original
screenplays) that generally must be adapted to serve as the
basis for the production of a particular film. An entity will
add the cost of adaptation or development to the cost of the
particular property. An entity should periodically review
properties in development to determine whether they will
ultimately be used in the production of a film. When an en
tity determines that a property will not be used (disposed
of), it should recognize any loss by a charge to the income
statement. It should be presumed that an entity will dis
pose of a property (whether by sale or abandonment) if it
has not been set for production within three years from
the time of the first capitalized transaction. An entity
should measure the loss as the amount by which the carry
ing amount of the project exceeds its fair value. Amounts
written off should not be subsequently reestablished as as
sets. Unless management, having the authority to approve
the action, has committed to a plan to sell such property,
the rebuttable presumption is that the entity will abandon
the property and, as such, its fair value should be zero.

33.

For an episodic television series, the following additional
guidance for film costs applies. Ultimate revenue for an
episodic television series can include estimates from the
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initial market and secondary markets, as discussed in para
graph 39(b).2Until an entity can establish estimates of sec
ondary market revenue in accordance with paragraph
39(b), capitalized costs for each episode produced should
not exceed an amount equal to the amount of revenue con
tracted for that episode. An entity should expense as in
curred film costs in excess of this limitation on an
episode-by-episode basis, and an entity should not restore
such amounts as film cost assets in subsequent periods. An
entity should expense all capitalized costs (including set
costs) for each episode as it recognizes the related revenue
for each episode. Once an entity can establish estimates of
secondary market revenue in accordance with paragraph
39(b), the entity should capitalize subsequent film costs.
An entity should amortize such capitalized film costs in ac
cordance with the provisions in paragraphs 34 through 37,
and it should evaluate such costs for impairment in accor
dance with paragraph 44.

Film Costs Amortization; Participation Cost Accruals
34.

An entity should amortize film costs and accrue (expense)
participation costs using the individual-film-forecast-com
putation method, which amortizes or accrues (expenses)
such costs in the same ratio that current period actual rev
enue (numerator) bears to estimated remaining unrecog
nized ultimate revenue as of the beginning of the current
fiscal year (denominator). That is, (a ) unamortized film
costs as of the beginning of the current fiscal year are mul
tiplied by the individual-film-forecast-computation method
fraction and (b) unaccrued (that is, not yet expensed) ulti
mate participation costs at the beginning of the current fiscal
year are multiplied by the individual-film-forecast-computa
tion method fraction. In this way, in the absence of changes
in estimates, film costs are amortized and participation costs
are accrued (expensed) in a manner that yields a constant
rate of profit over the ultimate period, as described in para
graph 39(a), for each film before exploitation costs, manu-

2. In this context, initial market is the first market of exploitation in each territory,
whether that market is a broadcast or cable television network, first-run syndication, or
other. Secondary markets are any markets other than the initial market.
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factu ring costs, and other period expenses. An entity should
accrue a liability for participation costs only if it is probable
that there will be a sacrifice of assets to settle its obligation
under the terms of the participation agreement. At each bal
ance sheet date, accrued participation costs should not be
less than the amounts that an entity is obligated to pay as
of that date. An entity should begin amortization of capital
ized film costs and accrual (expensing) of participation
costs when a film is released and it begins to recognize rev
enue from that film.
35.

In the absence of revenue from third parties that is directly
related to the exhibition or exploitation of a film, an entity
should make a reasonably reliable estimate of the portion
of unamortized film costs that is representative of the uti
lization of the film in that exhibition or exploitation. An
entity should expense such amounts as it exhibits or ex
ploits the film. (For example, a cable entity that does not
accept advertising on its cable channel may produce a film
and show it on that channel. In this example, the cable en
tity receives subscription fees from third parties that are
not directly related to a particular film.) Consistent with
the underlying premise of the individual film-forecast-com
putation method, all revenue should bear a representative
amount of the amortization of film costs during the ulti
mates period.

36.

As a result of uncertainties in the estimating process, actual
results may vary from estimates. An entity should review
and revise estimates of ultimate revenue and participation
costs as of each reporting date to reflect the most current
available information. If estimates are revised, an entity
should determine a new denominator that includes only the
ultimate revenue from the beginning of the fiscal year of
change (that is, ultimate revenue changes are treated
prospectively as of the beginning of the fiscal year of
change). The numerator (revenue for the current fiscal year)
is unaffected by the change. An entity should apply the re
vised fraction to the net carrying amount of unamortized
film costs and to the film’s unaccrued (that is, not yet ex
pensed) ultimate participation costs as of the beginning of
the fiscal year, and the difference between expenses deter-

mined using the new estimates and any amounts previously
expensed during that fiscal year should be charged or cred
ited to the income statement in the period (for example,
the quarter) during which the estimates are revised.
37.

Multiple seasons of an episodic television series that meets
the conditions of paragraph 39(b) to include estimated sec
ondary market revenue in ultimate revenue is considered
to be a single product, with multiple seasons of the series
combined for purposes of applying the individual film-fore
cast-computation method.

Ultimate Revenue
38.

Ultimate revenue to be included in the denominator of the
individual-film-forecast-computation method fraction should
include estimates of revenue that is expected to be recog
nized by an entity from the exploitation, exhibition, and
sale of a film in all markets and territories, subject to the
limitations set forth in paragraph 39.

39.

Ultimate revenue should be limited by the following.
a. For films other than episodic television series, ulti
mate revenue should include estimates over a period
not to exceed ten years following the date of the
film’s initial release. For episodic television series,
ultimate revenue should include estimates of rev
enue over a period not to exceed ten years from the
date of delivery of the first episode or, if still in pro
duction, five years from the date of delivery of the
most recent episode, if later. For previously released
films acquired as part of a film library, ultimate rev
enue should include estimates over a period not to
exceed twenty years from the date of acquisition. For
purposes of this SOP, an entity should categorize as
part of a film library only those individual films
whose initial release dates were at least three years
prior to the acquisition date.
b. For episodic television series, ultimate revenue should
include estimates of secondary market revenue (that
is, revenue from markets other than the initial mar
ket) for produced episodes only if an entity can demon-
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strate through its experience or industry norms that
the number of episodes already produced, plus those
for which a firm commitment exists and the entity
expects to deliver, can be licensed successfully in the
secondary market.
c. Ultimate revenue should include estimates of revenue
from a market or territory only if persuasive evidence
exists that such revenue will occur, or if an entity can
demonstrate a history of earning such revenue in that
market or territory. Ultimate revenue should include
estimates of revenue from newly developing territories
only if an existing arrangement provides persuasive
evidence that an entity will realize such amounts.
d. Ultimate revenue should include estimates of rev
enue from licensing arrangements with third parties
to market film-related products only if persuasive ev
idence exists that such revenue from that arrange
ment will occur for that particular film (such as a
signed contract to receive a nonrefundable minimum
guarantee or a nonrefundable advance) or if an entity
can demonstrate a history of earning such revenue
from that form of arrangement.
e. Ultimate revenue should include estimates of the
portion of the wholesale or retail revenue from an
entity’s sale of peripheral items (such as toys and ap
parel) that is attributable to the exploitation of
themes, characters, or other contents related to a
particular film only if the entity can demonstrate a
history of earning such revenue from that form of ex
ploitation in similar kinds of films. For example, an
entity may conclude that the portion of revenue
from the sale of peripheral items that it should in
clude in ultimate revenue is an estimate of what
would be earned by the entity if rights for such form
of exploitation had been granted under licensing
arrangements with third parties. Ultimate revenue
should not, however, include estimates of the entire
amount of wholesale or retail revenue from an en
tity’s sale of peripheral items.
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f . Ultimate revenue should not include estimates of rev
enue from unproven or undeveloped technologies.
g. Ultimate revenue should not include estimates of
wholesale promotion or advertising reimbursements
to be received from third parties; an entity should
offset such amounts against exploitation costs.
h. Ultimate revenue should not include estimates of
amounts related to the sale of film rights for periods
after those identified in paragraph 39(a).
40.

An entity should not discount ultimate revenue to its pre
sent value except as required by the provisions in para
graph 27. All foreign currency estimates of future revenues
should be based on current spot rates. Ultimate revenue
should not include amounts representing projections for
future inflation.

Ultimate Participation Costs
41.

Estimates of unaccrued (that is, not yet expensed) ulti
mate participation costs are used in the individual-filmforecast-computation method to arrive at current period
participation cost expense. Such costs should be deter
mined using assumptions that are consistent with an entity’s
estimates of film costs, exploitation costs, and ultimate
revenue, as limited by the provisions in paragraph 39. If,
at any balance sheet date, the recognized participation
costs liability exceeds the estimated unpaid ultimate par
ticipation costs for an individual film, the excess liability
should be reduced with an offsetting credit to unamortized
film costs. To the extent that an excess liability exceeds
unamortized film costs for that film, it should be credited
to income.

42.

A film may continue to generate revenue after its film costs
are fully amortized. When revenue is recorded on fully
amortized films, an entity should accrue associated partic
ipation costs as that revenue is recognized.

Film Costs Valuation
43.

The following are examples of events or changes in circum
stances that indicate that an entity should assess whether
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the fair value of a film (whether completed or not) is less
than its unamortized film costs.
a. An adverse change in the expected performance of a
film prior to release
b. Actual costs substantially in excess of budgeted costs
c. Substantial delays in completion or release schedules
d. Changes in release plans, such as a reduction in the
initial release pattern
e. Insufficient funding or resources to complete the film
and to market it effectively
f . Actual performance subsequent to release fails to
meet that which had been expected prior to release
44.

If an event or change in circumstance indicates that an en
tity should assess whether the fair value of a film is less
than its unamortized film costs, the entity should deter
mine the fair value of the film (the determination of which
is affected by estimated future exploitation costs still to be
incurred) and write off to the income statement the
amount by which the unamortized capitalized costs ex
ceeds the film’s fair value. Exploitation costs incurred after
such a write-off should be accounted for in accordance
with the provisions of paragraph 49. An entity should treat
the reduced amount of capitalized film costs that have
been written down to fair value at the close of an annual
fiscal period as the cost for subsequent accounting pur
poses, and an entity should not subsequently restore any
amounts previously written off.

45.

As discussed in paragraph 17, a discounted cash flows
model is often used to estimate fair value. If applicable, fu
ture cash flows based on the terms of any existing contrac
tual arrangements, including cash flows over existing
license periods without consideration of the limitations set
forth in paragraph 39, should be included. An entity should
consider the following factors, among others, in estimating
future cash inflows for a film: (a) if previously released, the
film’s performance in prior markets, (b) the public’s percep
tion of the film’s story, cast, director, or producer, (c) histor
ical results of similar films, (d) historical results of the cast,
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director, or producer on prior films, and (e) running time of
the film. In determining a film’s fair value, it is also neces
sary to consider those cash outflows necessary to generate
the film’s cash inflows. Therefore, an entity should incorpo
rate, if applicable, its estimates of future costs to complete a
film, future exploitation and participation costs, or other
necessary cash outflows in its determination of fair value
when using a discounted cash flows model.
46.

When using the traditional discounted cash flow approach
to estimate the fair value of a film, the relevant future cash
inflows and outflows should represent the entity’s estimate
of the most likely cash flows. When determining the fair
value of a film using the expected cash flows approach, all
possible relevant future cash inflows and outflows should
be probability weighted by period and the estimated mean
or average by period should be used.

47.

When determining the fair value of a film using a traditional
discounted cash flow approach, the discount rate(s) should
not be an entity’s incremental borrowing rate(s), liability
settlement rate(s), or weighted average cost of capital as
those rates typically do not reflect the risks associated with a
particular film. The discount rate(s) should consider the
time value of money and the expectations about possible
variations in the amount or timing of the most likely cash
flows and an element to reflect the price market participants
would seek for bearing the uncertainty inherent in such an
asset as well as other factors, sometimes unidentifiable, in
cluding illiquidity and market imperfections. When deter
mining the fair value of a film using the expected cash flow
approach, the discount rate(s) also would consider the time
value of money. Because they are reflected in the expected
cash flows, there would be no adjustment for possible varia
tions in the amounts or timing of those cash flows. If not re
flected in risk-adjusted expected cash flows, an additional
element to reflect the price market participants would seek
for bearing the uncertainty inherent in such an asset as well
as other factors, sometimes unidentifiable, including illiq
uidity and market imperfections, should be added to the dis
count rate(s).
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Subsequent Events
48.

For films released before or after the date of the balance
sheet for which evidence of the possible need for a write
down of unamortized film costs occurs after the date of the
balance sheet but before an entity issues its financial state
ments, a rebuttable presumption exists that the conditions
leading to the write-off existed at the date of the balance
sheet. In such situations, an entity should adjust its finan
cial statements for the effect of any changes in estimates
resulting from the use of the subsequent evidence. An en
tity can overcome the rebuttable presumption if it can
demonstrate that the conditions leading to the write-down
did not exist at the date of the balance sheet.

Exploitation Costs
49.

An entity should account for advertising costs in accordance
with the provisions of SOP 93-7, Reporting on Advertising
Costs. All other exploitation costs, including marketing costs,
should be expensed as incurred.

Manufacturing Costs
50.

An entity should charge manufacturing and/or duplication
costs of products for sale, such as videocassettes and digital
video discs, to expense on a unit-specific basis when the re
lated product revenue is recognized. An entity should, at
each balance sheet date, evaluate inventories of such prod
ucts for net realizable value and obsolescence exposures,
with appropriate adjustments recorded as necessary. An
entity should charge the cost of theatrical film prints to ex
pense over the period benefited.

Presentation and Disclosure
51.

If an entity presents a classified balance sheet, it should
classify film costs as noncurrent on the face of the balance
sheet. Regardless of whether an entity presents a classified
or unclassified balance sheet, it should disclose in the
notes to the financial statements the portion of the costs of
its completed films that are expected to be amortized dur
ing the upcoming operating cycle, which is presumed to be

27

twelve months. An entity should disclose its operating
cycle if it is other than twelve months.
52.

An entity should disclose the components of film costs (in
cluding released, completed and not released, in produc
tion, or in development or preproduction) separately for
theatrical films and direct-to-television product.

53.

An entity should disclose the percentage of unamortized
film costs for released films, excluding acquired film li
braries, that it expects to amortize within three years from
the date of the balance sheet. If that percentage is less than
80 percent, an entity should provide additional informa
tion, including the period required to reach an amortiza
tion level of 80 percent. For acquired film libraries, an entity
should disclose the amount of remaining unamortized
costs, the method of amortization, and the remaining
amortization period.

54.

An entity should disclose the amount of accrued participa
tion liabilities that it expects to pay during the upcoming
operating cycle.

55.

An entity should report cash outflows for film costs, participa
tion costs, exploitation costs, and manufacturing costs as op
erating activities in the statement of cash flows, and it should
include the amortization of film costs in the reconciliation of
net income to net cash flows from operating activities.

56.

An entity should disclose its methods of accounting for rev
enue, film costs, participation costs, and exploitation costs.

57.

In accordance with paragraph 33 of APB Opinion 20, A c
counting Changes, and paragraph 26 of APB Opinion 28,
Interim Financial Reporting, an entity should disclose the
effect on income before extraordinary items, net income,
and related per share amounts of the current fiscal period
for a change in estimate that affects several future periods.

58.

An entity should disclose events occurring subsequent to the
date of the balance sheet that do not require an adjustment
to the financial statements but that are of such a nature that
disclosure of them is required to keep the financial state
ments from being misleading.
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Amendment to Other Guidance
59.

This amends SOP 93-7. The following footnote is added to
“FASB Statement No. 53” in the Appendix of SOP 93-7.
In 2000, the FASB rescinded FASB Statement No. 53 and
AcSEC issued SOP 00-2, Accounting by Producers or
Distributors of Films. The provisions of SOP 93-7 apply
to entities within the scope of SOP 00-2.

Effective Date and Transition
60.

This SOP is effective for financial statements for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2000. Earlier application is
encouraged. The cumulative effect of changes in accounting
principles caused by adopting the provisions of this SOP
should be included in the determination of net income in
conformity with paragraph 20 of APB Opinion 20. Disclosure
of pro forma effects of retroactive application (APB Opinion
20, paragraph 21) is not required. An entity should not re
state previously issued annual financial statements.

The provisions of this Statement need not
be applied to immaterial items.

Basis for Conclusions
Scope
61.

This SOP applies to all kinds of films, including an episodic
television series. However, as a result of the unique nature of
an episodic television series, AcSEC decided to provide addi
tional guidance in this area. In response to some respon
dents to the exposure draft of the SOP, AcSEC reorganized
the SOP to clearly distinguish between the accounting re
quirements for all kinds of films and the additional guidance
for an episodic television series. The requirements of this
SOP do not apply to transactions or activities within the
scope of other authoritative literature listed in paragraph 5.
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The requirements of this SOP apply to films exploited by the
entity directly, or licensed or sold to others. AcSEC observed
that even though an entity may be considered to be primar
ily a film enterprise, it is still subject to generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) besides those addressed in
this SOP, for example, when involved with a transaction for
the licensing of record masters, software development, and
so forth.

Revenue Recognition
Basic Principles
62.

The basic standard for revenue recognition is set forth in para
graph 83 of FASB Concepts Statement No. 5, Recognition and
Measurement in Financial Statements o f Business Enter
prises, which provides that ’’ [revenue] recognition involves
consideration of two factors, (a) being realized or realizable
and (b) being earned, with sometimes one and sometimes the
other being the more important consideration.”

63.

Exclusivity and Substantially A ll. Paragraph 7 of the ex
posure draft proposed that, in addition to the conditions in
paragraph 6 of that exposure draft, a licensing arrangement
should transfer substantially all of the benefits and risks in
cident to ownership of a film on an exclusive basis for an
individual market and territory in order for an entity to ac
count for the transaction as a sale, and thus recognize rev
enue immediately. AcSEC based that concept on FASB
Statement No. 13, Accounting fo r Leases, as it relates to
the timing of revenue recognition when distinguishing be
tween sales-type leases and operating leases. Therefore,
under paragraph 7 of the exposure draft, an entity would
have recognized revenue from a nonexclusive arrangement
in a manner similar to an operating lease.

64.

Based on the arguments presented in the comment letters
to the exposure draft, AcSEC decided that exclusivity
should not be one of the conditions for revenue recognition
in the film industry. AcSEC acknowledges that, under an
exclusivity arrangement, the value of a film license to a cus
tomer has two major components: (a) the customer’s right to
use the film (in accordance with the license arrangement)
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and (b) the customer’s right to use the film exclusively in a
particular market and territory (which thereby restricts
the entity’s right to license the film to other customers).
Therefore, for an exclusive license arrangement, AcSEC
considered requiring bifurcation of the total license fee be
tween the two major components. Under that scenario, an
entity would recognize revenue from the fees allocated to
the first component in accordance with the conditions of
paragraph 6 of the exposure draft and it would recognize
revenue on the fees allocated to the second component rat
ably over the license period.
65.

AcSEC rejected the bifurcation approach primarily be
cause it believes that the approach is not operational. Also,
AcSEC agrees with many of the respondents to the expo
sure draft who noted that the “substantially all” condition
of paragraph 7 was subjective and, if kept as a revenue
recognition condition, could lead to diversity in practice.
AcSEC concluded that the approach proposed in the expo
sure draft was not operational.

66.

AcSEC also acknowledges the arguments made by some re
spondents to the exposure draft who noted that exclusivity,
even though it may be part of licensing arrangements, is
becoming less meaningful as entities are exploiting films
concurrently in the same territories through various mar
keting approaches, such as pay-per-view and home video.

67.

A number of respondents to the exposure draft and AcSEC
believe that if paragraph 7 of the exposure draft was main
tained, AcSEC would need to more narrowly define market
and territory to ensure comparability in financial report
ing. Ultimately, AcSEC needed to choose between (a) at
tempting to provide restrictive definitions, which could lead
to less desirable revenue recognition in certain circum
stances, or (b) removing the requirements of paragraph 7 of
the exposure draft, which would result in earlier but more
consistent revenue recognition within and between entities.
AcSEC believes that it cannot and should not define those
terms narrowly. AcSEC believes that the definitions of mar
ket and territory should be sufficiently flexible to allow each
entity to designate its markets and territories based on the
way it conducts business. Accordingly, AcSEC decided not
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to include the provisions of paragraph 7 of the exposure draft
in this SOP.
68.

Customer Acceptance. Some respondents to the exposure
draft believe that customer acceptance of a film should be
an explicit condition of revenue recognition. Those respon
dents believe that this SOP should be consistent with para
graph 20 of SOP 97-2. AcSEC appreciates the arguments of
those who desire complete consistency with the revenue
recognition criteria of SOP 97-2. However, because of the
rapid technological changes of software, and for other rea
sons, AcSEC believes that the differences between licensing
arrangements of software and films may be significant and
could result in different conclusions on revenue recogni
tion. SOP 97-2 addresses software arrangements under
which customer acceptance is most often evidenced by
physical delivery. In the film industry, physical delivery
may often not occur until well after the point at which the
customer’s license period begins and the film is complete
and available for immediate and unconditional delivery at
the customer’s request. Therefore, AcSEC concluded that
the customer acceptance condition of this SOP should not
be identical to that of SOP 97-2. AcSEC believes that the de
livery conditions set out in paragraphs 11 through 14 of this
SOP adequately address the issue of customer acceptance.

69.

Sales and Licensing. Paragraph 7 of the SOP provides the
revenue recognition conditions for a sale or licensing
arrangement. Though most of the SOP provides guidance
on what is commonly understood in the film industry as li
censing arrangements, the conditions of paragraph 7 also
apply to an entity’s outright sale of its rights to a film. If the
price from the sale of a film includes a variable element (as
opposed to a fixed fee sale), AcSEC acknowledges that the
application of the individual-film-forecast-computation
method results in recognizing a gain/loss that is different
than that calculated using a traditional sales model. How
ever, AcSEC believes that by treating the accounting for an
outright sale with a variable element similar to that of a
license arrangement with a variable element, the SOP will
help prevent diversity in practice because entities (a) will
have no accounting reason to structure transactions as sales
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versus licenses and (b) will not have to determine which li
cense arrangements are in-substance sales.

Persuasive Evidence of an Arrangement
70.

AcSEC understands that practice in the film industry varies
regarding the use of contracts for the purpose of document
ing license arrangements. Though licensing arrangements
are normally documented by contracts, AcSEC under
stands that sales or exploitation arrangements in certain
sectors of the industry are evidenced by documentation
other than a contract. For example, customer orders in di
rect home video distribution are normally evidenced by
written or on-line purchase orders. AcSEC believes that
such documentation is sufficient to provide persuasive evi
dence of an arrangement. Accordingly, AcSEC concluded
that documentation other than a contract can be sufficient
evidence of an arrangement.

Delivery
71.

AcSEC believes that, for most product sales and licenses,
an entity should not recognize revenue until it delivers the
product to the customer. Recognition of revenue on deliv
ery is consistent with paragraphs 83(b) and 84 of FASB
Concepts Statement No. 5. Paragraph 83(b) provides the
following guidance for recognition of revenue.
Revenues are not recognized until earned. An entity’s rev
enue-earning activities involve delivering or producing
goods, rendering services, or other activities that consti
tute its ongoing major or central operations, and revenues
are considered to have been earned when the entity has
substantially accomplished what it must do to be entitled
to the benefits represented by the revenues. [Footnote
omitted] [Emphasis added]

Paragraph 84 states that in recognizing revenues and gains:
The two conditions [for revenue recognition] (being real
ized or realizable and being earned) are usually met by the
time product or merchandise is delivered...to customers,
and revenues... are commonly recognized at time of sale
(usually meaning delivery). [Emphasis added]
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72.

As discussed in paragraph 12 of this SOP, rather than re
quiring immediate or direct delivery of a film print to a cus
tomer, certain licensing arrangements in the film industry
require only that an entity grant the custom er immediate
and unconditional access to the film. Once an entity pro
vides access, the licensing arrangem ent obligates the cus
tomer to pay for the film regardless of whether the customer
requests or receives the film. AcSEC believes that when an
entity makes a completed film available to a customer, it
“has substantially accomplished what it must do to be enti
tled to the benefits represented by the revenues” (as re
quired by paragraph 83(b) of FASB Concepts Statem ent
No. 5). In such arrangements, not physically delivering the
film (often as a result of a custom er not requesting the film
even though the license period has begun) is not a factor
sufficient to preclude revenue recognition. Therefore,
AcSEC believes that an entity has complied with the deliv
ery requirem ents of this SOP when the entity makes the
film available to the custom er and meets the other condi
tions of paragraph 7. Further, AcSEC believes th a t if the
film is at a film laboratory, providing the custom er with un
conditional and immediate access to the film is a prerequi
site for revenue recognition. If an arrangem ent is silent as
to delivery, AcSEC concluded that physical delivery is an
inherent requirem ent of revenue recognition.

73.

Many licensing arrangem ents require an entity to make
changes to a film after it makes the film available to a cus
tomer. AcSEC considered the question of when changes that
are required after a film’s initial availability should preclude
an entity from recognizing revenue on a film. AcSEC under
stands that an entity will make the changes often at a time
requested by the customer, which may or may not be imme
diately after a film is initially available to the customer. The
exposure draft stated, and AcSEC continues to believe, that
an obligation to make significant changes to a film after its
initial availability to a custom er precludes the entity from
recognizing revenue on the film until the entity completes
those significant changes (and it meets the other conditions
of paragraph 7).

74.

Based on comment letters received on the exposure draft,
AcSEC clarified its definition of significant changes to a film
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after its initial availability to a customer. AcSEC believes
that changes to a film are significant if they are additive; that
is, they require the creation of additional content. Changes,
such as dubbing and subtitling, are made to existing content
and, therefore, they are not significant.
75.

AcSEC believes th a t an obligation to make insignificant
changes to a film after its initial availability to a custom er
should not preclude revenue recognition if an entity meets
all other conditions of paragraph 7 of this SOP. AcSEC be
lieves that an obligation to make insignificant changes does
not affect an e n tity ’s having substantially accom plished
what it m ust do to earn revenue. AcSEC believes that SOP
81-1, Accounting fo r Performance of Construction-Type
and Certain Production-Type Contracts, supports AcSEC’s
position. Paragraph 30 of SOP 81-1 states, “Under the com 
pleted-contract method, income is recognized only when a
contract is com pleted or substantially com pleted.” Para
graph 52 of SOP 81-1 states, “As a general rule, a contract
may be regarded as substantially completed if remaining
costs and potential risks are insignificant in amount. The
overriding objectives are to maintain consistency in deter
mining when contracts are substantially completed and to
avoid arbitrary acceleration or deferral of income.”

Availability

76.

As discussed in paragraph 14, in certain situations, an en
tity may prohibit a custom er from beginning its initial ex
ploitation, exhibition, or sale of a film. One of the more
common prohibitions is a “street date” restriction used in
connection with the sales or rentals of videocassettes. This
occurs when an entity ships videocassettes to a custom er
on a certain date, b ut restricts sales prior to the “street
date.” Because the custom er does not have the ability to
exploit, exhibit, or sell the film in such situations, the con
ditions of paragraph 7(c) are not met. Consequently, an en
tity should not recognize revenue until the restriction
lapses. This initial-use prohibition does not apply to contrac
tual restrictions after the period of exploitation, exhibition,
or availability for sale of a film begins (for example, a licens
ing arrangement that allows a customer to air a film only once
per year over the license period).
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Fixed or Determinable Fee

77.

Paragraph 83 of FASB Concepts Statem ent No. 5 reads, in
part, “F urther guidance for recognition of revenues and
gains is intended to provide an acceptable level of assur
ance of the existence and amounts of revenue and gains be
fore they are recognized.” AcSEC believes th a t “an
acceptable level of assurance” of the am ount is attained
when the amount of the arrangem ent fee is fixed or deter
minable and the other conditions of paragraph 7 are met. If
the arrangem ent fee is based on a percentage of a cus
tom er’s revenue, the fee does not become fixed or deter
minable until the custom er’s revenue is earned. Because
the custom er’s revenue is not earned until the exhibition
or other exploitation of the film, AcSEC concluded that a
fee that is based on a percentage of the custom er’s revenue
from a film should not be recognized until the custom er’s
exhibition or other exploitation of the film.

78.

Flat Fees. In paragraph 16 of this SOP, AcSEC concluded
that, if a licensing arrangement provides for a flat fee with re
spect to multiple films, m arkets, or territories, an entity
should allocate the fee to the individual films based on the
relative fair value(s) of the rights to exploit the film(s) in the
respective markets and territories. AcSEC believes that bas
ing the allocation on relative fair value is consistent with the
accounting for multiple element transactions in other indus
tries. For example, paragraph 12 of FASB Statement No. 45,
Accounting for Franchise Fee Revenue, states the following.
The franchise agreement ordinarily establishes a single
initial franchise fee as consideration for the franchise
rights and the initial services to be performed by the
franchisor. Sometimes, however, the fee also may cover
tangible property, such as signs, equipment, inventory,
and land and building. In those circumstances, the por
tion of the fee applicable to the tangible assets shall be
based on the fair value of the assets.

79.
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The exposure draft stated that an entity should base the al
location on an entity-specific and product-specific esti
m ate of relative fair values. AcSEC decided to drop th at
language because those term s do not provide substantive
additional guidance on determining fair value. AcSEC be

lieves that the requirem ent of allocations based on relative
fair values is adequate.
80.

Variable Fees. If a licensing arrangem ent bases an entity’s
arrangem ent fee on a percentage or share of a custom er’s
revenue, the entity’s fee does not become fixed or deter
m inable until the custom er exhibits or exploits the film.
Because the custom er’s revenue is not earned until the ex
hibition or other exploitation of the film, AcSEC concluded
an entity should not recognize revenue that is based on a
percentage or share of the custom er’s revenue from a film
until the custom er’s exhibition or other exploitation of the
film (and the entity m eets the o ther conditions of p ara
graph 7 of this SOP).

81.

N onrefundable M inim um G uarantees (N ot C ross-C ol
latera lized ). The exposure draft proposed th at an entity
should account for licensing arrangements with guaranteed
nonrefundable minimum amounts payable against variable
fees covering single films or covering m ultiple films in
which the films are not cross-collateralized in a m anner
similar to how it should account for flat fees. Under th a t
guidance, an entity would have recognized revenue when it
m et the conditions in both paragraphs 6 and 7 of the expo
sure draft. AcSEC was concerned about allowing an entity
to recognize revenue immediately if, in fact, the entity may
have been doing nothing more than financing against fu
ture revenue. However, the proposed requirem ents for rev
enue recognition in paragraph 7 of the exposure draft
alleviated AcSEC’s concern. Because AcSEC decided to
delete paragraph 7 of the exposure draft in this final SOP,
AcSEC believed th a t it was necessary to revisit the ac
counting for nonrefundable minimum guarantees.

82.

In its deliberations, AcSEC concluded that an entity should
recognize a nonrefundable minimum guarantee fee against
a variable fee covering a single film or covering multiple
films that are not cross-collateralized as revenue immedi
ately when the entity meets all of the conditions of para
graph 7. AcSEC believes that the conditions of paragraph 7
provide an appropriate model for determining w hether an
entity should recognize revenue for a nonrefundable mini
mum guarantee fee. AcSEC believes that such fees are sim
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ilar to flat fees and flat fees with upside revenue potential,
and th a t an entity should account for each kind of fixed
fees similarly.
83.

In its deliberations, AcSEC was concerned about an entity
recognizing revenue for a variable fee arrangem ent based
on w hether it could or could not secure a nonrefundable
minimum guarantee fee. Consequently, AcSEC considered
w hether the SOP should require th at an entity recognize
all nonrefundable minimum guarantee fees as revenue rat
ably over the license period.

84.

If it had required ratable revenue recognition for nonrefund
able minimum guarantee fees in arrangements that are not
cross-collateralized, AcSEC believes th at such a require
ment would conflict with how AcSEC views flat fees because
the economics of flat or fixed fees and nonrefundable mini
mum guarantee fees (on a film or films that are not cross-col
lateralized) are substantially similar. Therefore, AcSEC
would have had to reconsider the accounting model for flat
fees (and thus the revenue recognition conditions of para
graph 7). AcSEC believes that this reconsideration was not
necessary.

85.

AcSEC understands that entities often cannot, in substance,
determ ine the differences between a licensing arrangem ent
with a flat fee plus a variable elem ent (and thus the vari
able portion is an equity kicker) or a nonrefundable m ini
mum guarantee fee against the variable fee. In fact, there is
little, if any, econom ic difference in those two kinds of
arrangements. If the SOP had required an entity to recog
nize all nonrefundable m inim um guarantee fees ratably,
AcSEC believes that entities could easily structure arrange
ments such that the nonvariable elem ent would instead be
a flat fee and recognize the flat fee as revenue immediately
(if all of the other conditions of paragraph 7 were met).

86.

In reaching its conclusions on accounting for revenue re
lated to fixed fees or nonrefundable minimum guarantees
on a film or films that are not cross-collateralized, AcSEC
considered various methods, including applying the guid
ance applicable to minimum guarantees in FASB Statement
No. 50.

O

87.

In FASB Statem ent No. 50, a conclusion was reached that
licensors should report minimum guarantees as liabilities
and recognize revenue as the license fee is earned. AcSEC
has been informed that there are differences between m in
imum guarantees in the film industry and minimum guar
antees in the music industry. Minimum guarantees in the
music industry generally relate to the rights to distribute
the music product of an artist or artists for a specific period
of time. Much of this product may not exist at the time the
m inim um guarantee arrangem ent is en tered into. Mini
mum guarantees in the film industry may actually repre
sent a sale of rights to exhibit a film in a particular m arket
and territory during the film’s useful life in that m arket and
territory with a potential share in the results above some
defined amount. These arrangem ents are used in connec
tion with customers in lieu of actual results reported by the
customer, which may be untimely, unreliable, or both. Be
cause of the differences between the industries in the na
ture of the minimum guarantees and in the circumstances
under w hich they are used, AcSEC concluded th a t the
guidance in FASB Statem ent No. 50 should not be applied
to minimum guarantees in the film industry.

88.

Nonrefundable M inimum G uarantees (C ross-C ollater
alized). AcSEC believes th at the accounting for a nonre
fundable minimum guarantee fee on a group of films that
are cross-collateralized should be different th an th a t for
such a fee on a group of films that are not cross-collateral
ized. In a cross-collateralized arrangement, the fee paid by
a custom er is dependent on the performance of all of the
films in the arrangement. Therefore, the fees are not fixed
or determinable with respect to each film in the arrange
m ent until the custom er exhibits or exploits all of the films,
and an entity should not immediately recognize the entire
nonrefundable minimum guarantee fee as revenue because
it cannot determine which film will earn revenue until ex
ploitation occurs.

89.

AcSEC concluded that an excess of a nonrefundable m ini
mum guarantee fee over the variable fee recognized in a
cross-collateralized arrangem ent should be recognized as
revenue at the end of the license period. AcSEC believes
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that such an excess is not earned until the period expires,
and therefore, it should not be recognized as revenue until
the arrangem ent period ends.
Collectibility

90.

AcSEC concluded that collectibility must be reasonably as
sured before an entity may recognize revenue. This conclu
sion is based on paragraph 1 of Chapter 1A of ARB No. 43,
Restatement and Revision of Accounting Research Bulletins,
which states the following.
Profit is deemed to be realized when a sale in the ordinary
course of business is effected, unless the circumstances
are such that the collection of the sale price is not reason
ably assured.

Licensing of Film-Related Products

91.

AcSEC understands th a t in m any arrangem ents, the re 
lease of a film is a requirem ent in order for the entity to be
entitled to fees from its licensing of film-related products.
Even if the release of a film is not a legal requirem ent in
order for the entity to be entitled to such fees, AcSEC be
lieves that, because of custom er expectations, the entity
has an implicit obligation to release the film in order to be
entitled to the fees. Therefore, AcSEC concluded th at an
en tity should n ot recognize revenue on such licensing
arrangem ents until it releases the film. Because fees from
licensing of film -related products usually varies directly
with the success of a film, the film industry includes such
fees in ultimate revenue.

Distribution Arrangements

92.
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Some respondents to the exposure draft requested that the
SOP address an entity’s accounting for co-production and
co-financing arrangements with other entities th at are be
yond “standard” distribution arrangements. Such arrange
m ents are becom ing prevalent in the film in d u stry as
entities look to share the risks (and thus the rewards) of
producing and distributing films. AcSEC believes th at such
arrangements are not unique to the film industry (for exam
ple, real estate, construction, and pharmaceutical industries
use co-production and co-financing arrangem ents), and,

therefore, they are beyond the scope of this SOP. AcSEC also
believes th at the accounting for co-production and co-fi
nancing arrangements is based on facts, circumstances, and
contractual agreements. For example, a shared arrangement
could be any of the following:
a. A joint venture subject to joint venture accounting
b. An arrangem ent that requires one entity to consoli
date another entity in its financial statem ents
c. A financing arrangem ent
d. An arrangem ent that is not a sale of a copyright but
rather a sale of future revenue subject to the account
ing requirem ents of EITF Issue No. 88-18, “Sale of
Future Revenues”
This is not to say that an entity has a choice of these m eth
ods. The determ ination of the appropriate method is based
on the specific facts and circumstances involved.

Costs and Expenses
Film Costs—Capitalization

93.

In paragraph 32 of this SOP, AcSEC concluded that, if a
property under development has not been set for produc
tion within three years from the first capitalized transac
tion related to th a t property, it is presum ed th a t the
property will be disposed of. AcSEC acknowledges that (a)
three years is arbitrary but decided to retain that aspect of
current practice and (b) set for production is an intention
ally chosen high hurdle to evidence use of a property.
AcSEC also concluded that when an entity determines that
such property will be disposed of at a loss, that loss should
be recognized by a charge to the income statement. AcSEC
considered retaining the provision of paragraph 17 of FASB
Statem ent No. 53, wherein the cost of a property not used
in production of a film, after being held for three years, be
charged to production overhead. AcSEC concluded th at
this would result in amortizing overhead costs th at were
neither directly nor indirectly related to a film, and there
fore, AcSEC rejected th at approach. Additionally, AcSEC
decided that in measuring impairm ent for capitalized costs
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of property not set for production within three years of the
first capitalized transaction, the rebuttable presum ption
should be that the property will be disposed of by abandon
m ent (not used) and as such has a fair value of zero. AcSEC
concluded that an entity could overcome this presumption
only if management, having the authority to approve the
action, had com m itted to a plan to sell such property.
AcSEC believes this provision will minimize the risk of re
porting, for long periods, capitalized costs that do not have
discernible future benefits and enhance com parability
within the industry.
Film Costs—Capitalization (Episodic Television Series)

94.

AcSEC concluded that, for an episodic television series that
has not yet met the conditions for including secondary mar
ket revenue in ultimate revenue, film costs for each episode
in excess of contracted for revenue should be expensed im
mediately. AcSEC understands that entities produce a series
knowing that the series will lose money in the early years.
Although the success rate of producing a successful series is
relatively low, entities are willing to incur such losses be
cause some percentage of episodic television series will be
come successful and generate significant profits.

95.

What an entity is trying to develop is an episodic television
series that will generate revenue from secondary markets. In
order for it to become feasible to obtain secondary market
revenue from a television series, an entity must produce a
minimum number of episodes. Because many contracts be
tween an entity and the initial exhibitor (for example, a net
work) result in the entity receiving less in fees than the costs
necessary to develop the series, AcSEC views the arrange
m ent as a partially funded research and development effort
to “create” a series that will gain public acceptance.

96.

However, given the uncertainty of the potential for sec
ondary markets in the early years of a series, AcSEC believes
that it is inappropriate for an entity to report, as an asset,
film costs for each episode in excess of revenue contracted
for that episode. AcSEC believes that this uncertainty exists
until an entity meets the conditions of paragraph 39(b).
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97.

AcSEC considered and rejected requiring entities to recog
nize the total loss expected for the num ber of episodes that
the entity expects to deliver under a contract. AcSEC con
sidered paragraph 8 of FASB Statement No. 5, which requires
accrual of a loss contingency if (a) information available prior
to issuance of the financial statem ents indicates th at it is
probable that an asset has been impaired or a liability has
been incurred at the date of the financial statements, and
(b) the am ount of the loss can be reasonably estim ated.
AcSEC understands that, although the term s of contractual
arrangem ents between a television network and an entity
in the film industry for delivery of an episodic television se
ries may be binding and noncancellable in form, in prac
tice these contracts often are amended or canceled in the
initial years of the series. If a series does not achieve rat
ings success quickly, the network may wish to cancel the
series notwithstanding previously established contractual
arrangem ents. Also, because producers norm ally incur
losses while producing episodes in the early years, it is
often in their best interests to cancel a series if secondary
m arket exhibition or exploitation is unlikely. As a result of
the discussion in this and preceding paragraphs, AcSEC be
lieves that for a new series in development, notwithstanding
a contract, the probability criterion of FASB Statement No. 5
has not been met. More important, given its views in para
graph 95 that the development of a series is akin to a partially
funded research and development effort, AcSEC concluded
that FASB Statement No. 5 accrual criteria and disclosures
are not applicable.

98.

Once the criteria for considering secondary market revenue
are met and the secondary market revenue is included in ul
timate revenue, AcSEC believes that an entity should capital
ize all film costs for an episodic product (without regard to
initial market revenue limitations on each episode). AcSEC
believes that when an entity is in this situation, the uncer
tainties surrounding whether a series will be successful are
sufficiently minimized and, therefore, the probability of the
recoverability of any additional film costs above contractedfor-revenue is high enough such that an entity should not im
mediately expense costs in excess of contracted-for-revenue.
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Film Costs Amortization

99.

AcSEC continues to believe th at the individual-film-fore 
cast-computation method is the most appropriate method
for expensing film costs in the film industry. AcSEC believes
that this method best associates the costs of film production
with the related revenue earned.

Participation Cost Accruals

100. The accounting for participation and residual costs (referred
to collectively as participation costs) was a complex issue for
AcSEC. AcSEC considered various approaches to account
ing for these costs.
101. One E vent C reates O bligation. The exposure draft pro
posed th a t an entity accrue total expected participation
costs and report those am ounts as film costs and related
p articipation liabilities. T hat approach was based on
AcSEC’s belief th a t participation costs are a form of de
ferred compensation for individuals who provide services
in the production of a film. Deferred com pensation ordi
narily is accrued in the periods when the recipients pro
vide services. In this view, the generation of revenue is the
confirming event that fixes the estim ated am ount payable,
similar to a defined contribution plan that calls for contri
butions for periods after an individual retires or term i
nates. In addition, AcSEC concluded in the exposure draft
that the proposed accounting for participation costs is con
sistent with FASB Statem ent No. 5, because the services
provided by the participants under co n tract rep resen t a
past event that gives rise to a liability.
102. Two E vents C reate O bligation. AcSEC also considered
the views of those who believe that two events are needed
to recognize a participation liability: (a) the participants’
performance, and (b) the film earning the minimum cum u
lative revenue or profit required to trigger payments to par
ticipants. Proponents of this viewpoint believe that, even
though the participants’ performance has already occurred
as the film was created, no participation liabilities will be
come due unless the film earns the minimum cumulative
revenue or profit.
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103. C urrent Practice. Further, based on comm ents made by
respondents to the exposure draft, AcSEC considered argu
m ents suggesting th a t the SOP should m aintain cu rren t
practice, which is similar to how entities in other indus
tries report royalty fees on licensed products. Those com
m ent letters indicated th at entities in other industries do
not accrue liabilities for the total expected royalty fees
they will pay on the products they license, even though
they may have completed all of the manufacturing efforts
and the total am ount to be paid is reliably m easurable.
Rather, those entities record the royalty expense as a cost
of the sale or license as they earn revenue on the products
to which the royalties relate. This is a form of the two events
liability recognition approach with the second event being
earning the revenue from sales of products.
104. AcSEC believes that the arguments supporting all three ap
proaches have m erit and can be supported by analogies to
authoritative literature. Deciding the appropriateness of
the one versus two event approaches would have had im 
plications beyond the scope of this SOP and, therefore,
AcSEC decided to m aintain current practice in accounting
for participation costs. C urrent practice requires that, dur
ing the ultim ates period, an entity should accrue and ex
pense p articipation costs in each reporting period by
multiplying unaccrued (that is, not yet expensed) ultimate
p articipation costs by the ratio of c u rren t period actual
revenue to estim ated rem aining unrecognized ultim ate
revenue as of the beginning of the current fiscal year. The
requirem ent to lim it the period of ultim ate participation
costs to th a t for ultim ate revenue m aintains consistency
within the SOP. Although the reported liability at any given
time differs under the three approaches, AcSEC notes that
the income statem ent results under cu rren t practice are
not significantly different from the results under the ap
proach proposed in the exposure draft.
105. AcSEC was also informed that certain users of film entities’
financial statements prefer the accrued participation liability
under current practice compared to that under the approach
prescribed by the exposure draft. Those users indicated that
they would factor participation costs assets out of th eir
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analyses. AcSEC found this helpful in arriving at its conclu
sion, as discussed in the previous paragraph.
106. AcSEC understands that a participation arrangement may re
quire an actor to help promote the release of a film in a par
ticular m arket or territory. AcSEC believes th at such an
activity and related costs relate to the exploitation of a film.
AcSEC considered and rejected requiring an entity to iden
tify and separate the portion of costs in a participation
arrangement that relates to exploitation activities. AcSEC be
lieves th at such a requirem ent is not practicable because
overall participation costs are typically not broken down by
the specific efforts required of the actor in a participation
arrangement. In addition, AcSEC believes that the benefits of
separating the costs of the exploitation efforts are minimal.
Changes in Estimates

107. The exposure draft proposed that an entity account for the
effects of changes in estimates of revenue and costs prospec 
tively, starting with the beginning of the period of change.
FASB Statement No. 53 required that an entity account for
the effects of changes in estim ates prospectively, starting
with the beginning of the fiscal year of change. Many respon
dents to the exposure draft favored the FASB Statement No.
53 approach for changes in estim ates. They believe (and
AcSEC concurs) that the exposure draft’s approach would
have encouraged entities to make aggressive estimates of ul
tim ate revenue because revised estim ates would be ac
counted for prospectively from the period of change.
108. This SOP effectively m aintains the approach required by
FASB Statement No. 53. AcSEC believes that the film indus
try and users of financial statements find that this approach
serves their needs, and AcSEC did not have a compelling
reason to change current practice.
109. AcSEC considered requiring a cumulative effect catch-up
adjustm ent through the income statem ent, which would
have required an entity to go back beyond the fiscal year of
change. However, AcSEC rejected this approach primarily
because of the expected difficulties of implementing this re
quirement, for example, the need to track impairment write
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downs on a film-by-film basis and adjust previous estimates
for those write-downs.
110. The one exception to the changes in estimate guidance is
when the recognized participation costs liability exceeds
the estimated unpaid ultimate participation costs for an in
dividual film. Because the individual-film-forecast-compu 
tation m ethod does not provide a m echanism to reduce
recognized liabilities in such situations, paragraph 41 re
quires a reduction in the reported participation liability and
unamortized film costs under such circumstances. Because
of the interaction of this calculation with the amortization of
film costs calculation (which is based on estimates), AcSEC
concluded th a t the offset to the reduction in the liability
should be first used to reduce unamortized film costs before
impacting an entity’s income statement.
Ultimate Revenue

111. In paragraphs 38 and 39 of this SOP, AcSEC reached con
clusions th a t lim it the am ount of revenue th a t an entity
should include in ultimate revenue. AcSEC concluded that
estimated ultimate revenue should include only those rev
enues that are expected to be recognized within a limited
period. In addition, AcSEC concluded th at entities should
not include certain forms of more speculative revenue in
ultimate revenue. AcSEC believes th at the guidance in this
SOP will help promote comparability among entities within
the industry.
112. AcSEC acknowledges that the ten-year provision is arbitrary
and that many films have lives that extend beyond ten years.
AcSEC is concerned, however, about diversity th at has
arisen in the industry with respect to the estimation of ulti
mate revenue. AcSEC concluded th at such a limitation is
needed to provide greater comparability within the industry.
AcSEC also notes that, in most instances, the significant ma
jority of a film’s revenue will have been earned within the
ten-year period.
113. One exception to the ten-year provision is for a successful
episodic television series that has been in production for at
least five years. In these instances, AcSEC decided that en
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tities should include in ultim ate revenue all revenue ex
pected to be recognized through five years from the date of
delivery of the most recent episode.
114. Another exception to the ten-year provision is for acquisi
tions of previously released films as part of a film library. In
many such acquisitions, the ultimate revenue used to assign
acquisition cost or value to the films will be generated over
periods exceeding ten years. AcSEC believes that in such sit
uations, the same revenue used to value the acquired films
should be used to apply the individual-film-forecast-compu 
tation m ethod. However, to address concerns sim ilar to
those discussed in paragraph 112, AcSEC concluded that it
should place a lim itation on the revenue th a t an entity
should include in the determ ination of ultim ate revenue.
AcSEC has been informed that in applying APB Opinion 16,
Business Combinations, in the film industry, twenty years is
the life most often assigned to a film library.
115. AcSEC believes that an amortization period longer than ten
years for films in a library is appropriate because of the dif
ferences between such films and new films exploited indi
vidually. In alm ost all cases, a new film th at is exploited
individually will earn the vast majority of its revenue within
the first few years, followed by a relatively long stream of
lower, more level revenue over the remainder of its life. How
ever, a film that is included in a film library has experienced
its initial cycle in all m arkets and, therefore, has entered
into the period of more stable, lower level revenue. AcSEC’s
decision that a film must have had an initial release date at
least three years prior to the acquisition date to be included
in a film library is arbitrary, but AcSEC believes that its de
cision will help ensure comparability in practice.
116. Paragraph 29(d) of the exposure draft proposed th at ulti
mate revenue should exclude all revenue from the m anu
facture and sale of peripheral items. However, AcSEC decided
that the limitations on ultimate revenue should be the same
for both sales of peripheral items and licensing arrangements
with third parties for peripheral items. Therefore, this SOP
requires that an entity include in ultimate revenue the por
tion of the estim ated revenue from the sale of peripheral
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items that is attributable to the exhibition or exploitation
of a particular film.
Film Costs Valuation
117. In the exposure draft and in this SOP, AcSEC concluded
that, for impairment purposes, a long-lived asset model is
more consistent with the manner in which an entity will
exploit a film than is an inventory model. Revenue may be
earned from a film over a long period. Additionally, a film is
sold or licensed repeatedly by an entity in different mar
kets and territories (unlike inventory, which is sold once).
Therefore, AcSEC concluded that an entity should use the
fair value of a film when measuring impairment.
118. AcSEC decided that an entity’s measurement of impair
ment of a particular film should be triggered by events or
circumstances that indicate that the fair value of a film
may be less than its carrying amount. AcSEC believes that
an entity rarely would get to the step of measuring impair
ment of a film if the trigger (that is, recognition test) was a
comparison of estimated future cash flows (undiscounted
and without interest charges) to unamortized film costs. As
a result, AcSEC concluded that the approach in this SOP is
preferable.
119. In determining the fair value of a film, AcSEC observed that
the underlying premise of the individual-film-forecast-com
putation method is an entity’s ability to reliably estimate fu
ture revenues. Therefore, AcSEC observed that the
estimates of the most likely future cash inflows used in de
termining the fair value of a film would include those esti
mates used in the determination of a film’s ultimate revenue
in addition to other amounts, as discussed in paragraph 45.
120. Many respondents to the exposure draft believe that films
should not follow a long-lived asset model. They believe
that the majority of film costs are amortized within the
first few years of a film’s life.
121. Respondents favoring an alternative model believe that a
film entity is in business to produce and license films, and
that, films “are held for sale in the ordinary course of busi
ness,” as discussed in paragraph 2 of chapter 4 of Account

49

ing Research Bulletin (ARB) No. 43, Restatement and Revi
sion of Accounting Research Bulletins.
122. AcSEC believes th at the arguments for both models have
m erit. AcSEC is less concerned w ith choosing an asset
model for films than it is with ensuring that users of financial
statem ents receive relevant information. AcSEC believes
that users want and need film entities to report (a) the por
tion of film costs that will be amortized in the next operating
cycle and (b) film costs, participation costs, exploitation
costs, and manufacturing costs as cash flows from operat
ing activities rather than from investing activities. Accord
ingly, this SOP requires entities to report the information
that AcSEC believes users need. AcSEC also believes that
the required treatm ent of cash flows is consistent with para
graphs 86 and 87 of FASB Statem ent No. 95, Statement of
Cash Flows.
Exploitation Costs

123. In the exposure draft, AcSEC noted that the film industry’s
pattern of incurring exploitation costs differs significantly
from the p a tte rn in other industries. A high proportion
(perhaps as m uch as 80 percent) of the total lifetime ex
ploitation costs incurred by an entity with respect to a film
is incurred in connection with the release of a film into do
mestic and international theatrical markets. An entity will
incur the m ost significant am ount of expenditures on or
before the first weekend to “open” the film domestically.
124. The exposure draft discussed many different accounting al
ternatives for exploitation costs and presented AcSEC’s
original position on each alternative. Those arguments are
not restated in this SOP; rather, this basis for conclusions
addresses why AcSEC ultim ately decided th a t an entity
should account for exploitation costs in accordance with
the provisions of SOP 93-7 and why AcSEC changed its po
sition from the exposure draft (which was that only initial
th eatrical exploitation costs would be capitalized and
am ortized over a period not to exceed three m onths; all
other exploitation costs would be expensed as incurred).
125. W hen SOP 93-7 was issued, film entities were excluded
from its scope because the SOP could not change the pro-
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visions in FASB Statem ent No. 53 (which falls into level a
in the hierarchy of GAAP, as discussed in Statem ent on Au
diting Standards (SAS) No. 69, The Meaning of Present
Fairly in Conformity With Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles in the Independent Auditor’s Report). However,
because the FASB will rescind FASB Statem ent No. 53
upon the effective date of this SOP, AcSEC was able to de
bate w hether SOP 93-7 should apply to films.
126. The accounting for exploitation costs was a difficult issue
for AcSEC. AcSEC believes that the accounting proposed
in the exposure draft has merit. However, AcSEC’s position
in the exposure draft was a compromise between parties
th a t preferred (a) capitalization and am ortization of ex
ploitation costs for all markets and territories, (b) am orti
zation periods longer than three months, (c) capitalization
and expensing at first showing of a film, or (d) inclusion of
film entities in the scope of SOP 93-7.
127. Based on its review of the comment letters, AcSEC took a
fresh look at its position in the exposure draft. Some re 
spondents, including a num ber of producers of films, stated
that the SOP should require that entities expense exploita
tion costs in accordance with SOP 93-7. Many supporters
of the position in the exposure draft acknowledged th at
this solution is not well supported by existing authoritative
accounting literature. AcSEC believes th at SOP 93-7 is the
most definitive guidance for exploitation costs. AcSEC ulti
mately could not rationalize why an entity should account
for such costs incurred in the film industry differently from
how entities account for the same costs incurred in other
industries. AcSEC concluded that the guidance in this SOP
should be similar to how other industries account for simi
lar costs. For a further discussion on the rationale for the
accounting requirements in SOP 93-7, entities may review
the basis for conclusions in that SOP.

Presentation and Disclosure
128. Paragraph 51 requires disclosure of the portion of the costs
of completed films that are expected to be amortized dur
ing the upcoming operating cycle. This required disclosure
responds to the needs of users of financial information.
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129. AcSEC believes th a t most entities will have an operating
cycle of twelve months. However, AcSEC also believes that
certain entities in the film industry may produce a small
num ber of films and that the production period for those
entities may exceed twelve m onths. Therefore, in accor
dance w ith paragraph 5 of C hapter 3A of ARB No. 43,
AcSEC concluded that entities should be allowed to desig
nate an operating cycle of greater th an twelve m onths
when facts and circumstances justify a longer period.
130. Public companies are required to disclose in their annual
filings with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) the balances of unam ortized capitalized film costs,
excluding film libraries, whose am ortization within three
years of the reporting date would not consume 60 percent
of the unamortized capitalized film costs and the estimated
time period to achieve 60-percent accumulated amortiza
tion. Users of financial statem ents have indicated that this
is useful information, but given changes in the film indus
try and the requirem ent to apply SOP 93-7 to exploitation
costs, an 80-percent threshold provides more relevant in
formation. AcSEC agreed and decided to require this dis
closure for all entities.
131. AcSEC decided to require disclosures of m ethods of ac
counting to ensure that the SOP is consistent with paragraph
12(b) of APB Opinion 22, Disclosure of Accounting Policies,
which requires disclosure of “Principles and methods pecu
liar to the industry in which the reporting entity operates,
even if such principles and methods are predominately fol
lowed in that industry.”

Effective Date and Transition
132. AcSEC believes that the advantages of retroactive applica
tion in prior periods of the provisions of this SOP would not
outweigh the disadvantages. Accordingly, AcSEC con
cluded th a t the cum ulative effect of changes caused by
adopting the provisions of this SOP should be included in
the determ ination of net income. In addition, AcSEC ex
tended the effective date of the SOP by one year from the
date proposed in the exposure draft to give entities more
time to comply with the provisions of the SOP.
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APPENDIX
Examples
EXAMPLE 1
Revenue Recognition for a Fixed Fee,
Single Film License Arrangement
(In Accordance With Paragraphs 15 and 27)
An entity grants to a customer a license for cable television broadcast
rights for a single film. Assumptions are the following:

a. End of entity’s fiscal year is December 31.
b. Contract execution date is July 31, 2000.
c. License period is January 1, 2001 to December 31, 2003.

d. The entity has met all of the revenue recognition conditions of
paragraph 7 at January 1, 2001.
e. License fee is $19,000.
f . Payment schedule is $1,000 at contract execution date, $6,000
on each of January 1, 2001, 2002, and 2003. Payments are non
interest bearing.

g. Appropriate interest rate for computation of interest is 12 percent
per year.
Income recognition is computed as follows:
Revenue
Year 2000
Year 2001

$

Interest Income
$

17,140(1)

Year 2002

-

Year 2003

$17,140

1,217(2)
643(3)
-

$ 1,860

(1) Sum of $1,000 paid on contract execution, $6,000 paid on January 1, 2001, plus the pre
sent value at 12 percent of the $6,000 payments due on January 1, 2002 and 2003.
(2) Interest at 12 percent for twelve months on a receivable (present valued) of $10,140.
(3) Interest at 12 percent for twelve months on a receivable (present valued) of $5,357.
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EXAMPLE 2
Allocation of Revenue for a Fixed Fee,
Multiple Film Arrangement
(In Accordance With Paragraph 16)
Assumptions are the following:

a. An entity grants to a customer the cable television broadcast
rights to three films under a single licensing arrangement in a
particular market and territory. The arrangement calls for a fixed
license fee of $30,000. The arrangement provides for a pro-rata
reduction in the license fee if Film 3 is not completed and made
available for delivery.

b. At the date of the arrangement, Films 1 and 2 are complete; Film
3 is yet to be produced. An evaluation of the relative fair values of
the licensed rights to Films 1 and 2 indicate that Film 1 should be
assigned 55 percent of the fixed license fee and Film 2 should be
assigned 45 percent of the fee. The amount potentially refundable
if Film 3 is not completed and delivered is $10,000.
The entity should allocate the license fee as follows:
Film 1 = $11,000 ($30,000 license fee, less $10,000
potentially refundable for one incomplete film,
multiplied by 55 percent)
Film 2 = $9,000 ($30,000 license fee, less $10,000
potentially refundable for one incomplete film,
multiplied by 45 percent)
Film 3 = $10,000 (the refundable amount due if the film
is not completed and made available for delivery)
The entity should recognize revenue on amounts allocated to each film
in accordance with the provisions of this Statement of Position (SOP).
If payments under such an arrangement are due in installments,
applicable present value calculations should be performed, as illustrated
in Example 1.
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EXAMPLE 3
Revenue Recognition for a Variable Fee,
Single Film Arrangement
With a Nonrefundable Minimum Guarantee
(In Accordance With Paragraph 19)
Assumptions are the following:

a. An entity licenses to a customer the home video rights to one
film for a period of two years. The licensing arrangement provides
for a variable fee to the entity equal to 30 percent of the customer’s
gross receipts from the exploitation of this film during the license
period. The licensing arrangement also requires the customer to
pay the entity a $50,000 nonrefundable minimum guarantee
against the variable fee.

b. For purposes of this example, assume that the customer generates
gross receipts from the exploitation of the film equal to $100,000
in Year 1 and $80,000 in Year 2. Also, assume that the entity has
met all other revenue recognition conditions of this SOP.
The entity should recognize revenue as follows:

Nonrefundable
Minimum Guarantee
Year 1
Year 2

$50,000(1)
-

Variable
License Fee
$
4,000(3)

(1) Amount is equal to the nonrefundable minimum guarantee
(2) No variable fee is recognizable in Year 1, as the variable fee ($100,000 gross receipts * 30
percent = $30,000) is less than the nonrefundable minimum guarantee.
(3) The cumulative variable fee is $54,000 [($100,000+80,000) * 30 percent], which exceeds
the previously recognized nonrefundable minimum guarantee by $4,000. Accordingly,
revenue for Year 2 is $4,000.
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EXAMPLE 4
Revenue Recognition for a Variable Fee,
Multiple Film Arrangement
With a Nonrefundable Minimum Guarantee
(In Accordance With Paragraph 20)
Assumptions are the following:

а. An entity licenses to a customer the home video rights to five films
for a period of three years. The licensing arrangement provides for
a variable fee to the entity equal to 30 percent of the customer’s
gross receipts from the exploitation of the films during the license
period. The licensing arrangement also requires the customer to
pay the entity a $50,000 nonrefundable minimum guarantee
against the variable fees for the five films. The variable fees are
cross-collateralized for purposes of determining any amounts due
in excess of the $50,000 nonrefundable minimum guarantee.
b. For purposes of this example, assume the customer generates
revenue as follows:

Year 1
Year 2
Year 3
Total

Film 1

Film 2

Film 3

Film 4

$ 30,000
10,000
10,000

$ 20,000
10,000
10,000

$ 10,000
5,000
5,000

$

$ 50,000

$ 40,000

$ 20,000

$ 20,000

10,000
10,000

Film 5
$

Total

5,000
5,000

$ 60,000
40,000
40,000

$ 10,000

$ 140,000

In this example, the entity cannot recognize the nonrefundable minimum
guarantee as revenue upon the inception of the license period due to the
cross-collateralization provisions of the arrangement. Instead, the entity
should recognize revenue on a variable fee basis. The entity should
recognize revenue as follows:
Film 1

Film 2

Film 3

Film 4

Film 5

Year 1(1)
Year 2(1)
Year 3 (1)

$ 9,000
3,000
3,000

$ 6,000
3,000
3,000

$ 3,000
1,500
1,500

$

$
3,000
3,000

1,500
1,500

$18,000
12,000
12,000

Subtotal
Year 3, at end of
license period(2)

$15,000

$12,000

$ 6,000

$ 6,000

$ 3,000

$42,000

Total

Total

2,857

2,286

1,143

1,143

571

8,000

$17,857

$14,286

$ 7,143

$ 7,143

$3,571

$50,000

(1) Amounts are computed using 30 percent of the customer’s gross receipts for the applica
ble films and periods.
(2) The cumulative amount of the entity’s variable fees earned is less than the nonrefundable
minimum guarantee. The excess ($8,000) of the nonrefundable minimum guarantee over
cumulative earned revenue is recognized at the end of the license period, and is allocated
to the individual films based on their relative cumulative variable fees.
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EXAMPLE 5
Illustration of the Individual-Film-Forecast
Method of Amortization,
for a Film in Its Initial Year of Release
(In Accordance With Paragraph 34)
Assumptions are the following:
a. Film cost— $50,000
b. Estimated ultimate revenue— $100,000

c. Actual revenue earned in Year 1— $60,000
d. Estimated ultimate participation costs— $10,000

Film Cost amortization in Year 1:
$60,000 earned revenue

* $50,000 film cost = $30,000

$100,000 ultimate revenue

Participation costs accrued in Year 1:
60,000 earned revenue
$

* $10,000 ultimate participation costs = $6,000

$100,000 ultimate revenue
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EXAMPLE 6
Illustration of the Individual-Film-Forecast
Method of Amortization, for a Film Where Estimates
Are Revised Subsequent to the Initial Year of Release
(In Accordance With Paragraph 36)
Assumptions are the following:
a. Film cost is $50,000
b. Estimated ultimate revenue:
- Year 1—$100,000
- Year 2—$ 90,000 (Note: not the remaining ultimate revenue
starting from this year)
c. Actual revenue earned:
- In Year 1—$60,000
- In Year 2—$10,000
d. Estimated ultimate participation costs:
- Year 1—$10,000
- Year 2—$9,000 (Note: not the remaining ultimate participation
costs starting from this year)
e. For Year 1, film cost amortization was $30,000 and participation
costs accrued were $6,000.
Film Cost amortization in Year 2:
$ 1 0 ,000 earned revenue

* $ 2 0,000 unamortized film costs(2) = $ 6,667

$30,000 remaining ultimate revenue(1)

Participation costs accrued in Year 2:
$1 0 ,000 earned revenue

,000 remaining ultimate participation costs(2) = $1,000

$30,000 remaining ultimate revenue(1)

(1) Computed as follows: Year 2 revised ultimate revenue of $90,000 minus cumulative
prior earned revenue of $60,000.
(2) Computed as follows: Film cost of $ 50,000 minus cumulative prior amortization of
$30,000.
(3) Computed as follows: Year 2 revised ultimate participation expense of $9,000 minus
cumulative prior accrual of $6,000.
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EXAMPLE 7
Adjustment of a Participation Liability
That Is in Excess of a Revised
Estimate of Amounts Ultimately Payable
(In Accordance With Paragraph 41)
In accordance with paragraph 41 of this SOP, a participation liability
that exceeds the unpaid amount expected to be ultimately payable
should be offset against the remaining carrying value of the correspond
ing film. This scenario can result from changes in ultimate revenue
and cost estimates that result in reduced expectations of ultimate
participation costs.
Assumptions are the following:
a. Film cost—$50,000.
b. Estimated ultimate revenue:
- Year 1—$100,000
- Year 2—$80,000
c. Actual revenue earned:
- In Year 1—$60,000
- In Year 2—$10,000
d. Estimated ultimate participation costs:
- Year 1—$10,000
- Year 2—$0
e. For Year 1, film cost amortization was $30,000, and participation
costs accrued were $6,000.
Adjustments of Participation Liability and Film Costs in Year 2:

Unamortized
Film Costs
Balance at end of Year 1

$ 20,000

Adjustment to eliminate excess liability
Adjusted balances

(6,000)
$14,000

Participation
Liability

$ 6,000
(6 ,000 )

$___ =

Film Cost amortization in Year 2:
$ 1 0 ,000 earned revenue

*$14,000 unamortized film costs(2) = $7,000

$ 2 0 ,000 remaining ultimate revenue(1)
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(continued )

EXAMPLE 7 (continued)
Participation costs accrued in Year 2:
$10,000 earned revenue

* $0 remaining ultimate participation costs(3) = $0

$20,000 remaining ultimate revenue(1)

(1) Computed as follows: Year 2 revised ultimate revenue of $80,000 minus cumulative prior
earned revenue of $60,000.
(2) Computed as follows: Film cost of $50,000 minus cumulative prior amortization of
$30,000 and minus the excess participation liability adjustment of $6,000.
(3) Estimated ultimate participation costs were reduced to $0 in Year 2; accordingly, the
excess liability was reversed and no further accruals are required.
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EXAMPLE 8
Accounting for Costs of Episodic Television
Production Prior to the Establishment of
Secondary Market Revenue Estimates
(In Accordance With Paragraph 33)
Assumptions are the following:

a. An episodic television series is in its first year of production
b. Secondary market revenue estimable—none
c. Cost of production, per episode after the first episode—$700
(assume that most of the set costs were accounted for as part of
the first episode, which is not illustrated in this example)

d. Exploitation costs, per episode—$5
e. Estimated ultimate revenue per episode:
Contracted

$400

Secondary market revenue is not estimable per the provisions of
paragraph 39(b). Accordingly, capitalization of film costs is limited
as follows:

Per Episode
Revenue contracted

$400

Production costs to be capitalized

$400

Exploitation costs expensed

$

Production costs to be charged directly
to expense

$300(1)

5

(1) Computed as follows: Total cost of production of $700, less costs to be capitalized of $400.
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EXAMPLE 9
Illustration of the Individual-Film-Forecast Method
of Amortization, for an Episodic Television Series
(In Accordance With Paragraph 37)
Assumptions are the following:

a. An entity produces and distributes an episodic television series.
Five seasons of the series are ultimately produced.

b. The entity’s fiscal year end corresponds directly with the
completion of each production season.
c. The beginning of Season 4 is when secondary market revenue
estimates are initially established.

d. Costs of production are the following:
Seasons 1 to 3

$36,000 (fully expensed prior to Season 4)

Season 4

$16,000

Season 5

$18,000

e. Earned and remaining ultimate revenues are the following:
As of Season 4
Earned and reported in Season 4

$ 8,000

Earned and reported in Season 5
Remaining ultimate revenue, Seasons 1 to 4

N/A
$40,000

Remaining ultimate revenue, Season 5

N/A
$48,000

As of Season 5
Earned and reported in Season 4

N/A

Earned and reported in Season 5

$11,000

Remaining ultimate revenue, Seasons 1 to 4

$40,000

Remaining ultimate revenue, Season 5

$10,000
$61,000

f . Ultimate participation costs are as follows:
As of Seasons 1 to 3
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$

0

As of Season 4

$2,000

As of Season 5

$3,000

Amortization of film costs in accordance with paragraph 37 of this SOP
is determined as follows for Seasons 4 and 5:
Season 4

$8,000(1
)

x $16,000(3) = $2,667

$48,000(2)
Season 5

$ 11 ,000(1)

x $31,333(4) = $5,650

$61,000(2)
Accrual of participation costs is determined as follows:
Season 4

$8,000(1
)

x $2,000(5)

= $333

x $2,667(6)

= $481

$48,000(2)
Season 5

$11,000(1)
$61,000(2)

(1 ) Earned and reported revenue during the current season.
(2 ) Remaining ultimate revenue at the beginning of the current season.
(3 ) Remaining unamortized film costs at the beginning of Season 4 (00 from Seasons 1 to 3,
plus the cost of production of Season 4).
(4 ) Remaining unamortized film costs at the beginning of Season 5 ($13,333 unamortized as
of the end of Season 4 plus the $18,000 cost of production of Season 5).
(5 ) Remaining unaccrued participation costs at the beginning of Season 4.
(6 ) Remaining unaccrued participation costs at the beginning of Season 5 (ultimate cost of
$3,000, less prior cumulative accrual of $333).
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GLOSSARY
This glossary contains definitions of terms or phrases as used in this SOP.
Cross-collateralized. An arrangement that grants a licensee distribution
rights to multiple films, territories and/or markets to a licensee, and the
exploitation results for all applicable films, territories and/or markets
are aggregated by this licen see for purposes of determ ining amounts
payable to the licensor under the arrangement.
Distributor. An enterprise or individual that owns or holds the rights to
distribute films. For purposes of this SOP, the definition of distributor of
a film does not include, for example, those entities that function solely
as broadcasters, retail outlets (such as video stores), or movie theaters.
Entity. Producer or distributor that owns or holds the rights to distribute
or exploit films in one or more markets and territories.
Exploitation costs. All direct costs (including marketing, advertising,
publicity, promotion, and other distribution expenses) incurred in con
nection with the distribution of a film.
Film costs. Film costs include all direct negative costs incurred in the
physical production of a film, as well as allocations of production over
head and capitalized interest in accordance with FASB Statement No. 34.
Examples of direct negative costs include costs of story and scenario;
com pensation of cast, directors, producers, extras, and miscellaneous
staff; costs of set construction and operations, wardrobe, and accessories;
costs of sound synchronization; rental facilities on location; and postpro
duction costs such as music, special effects, and editing.
Film prints. Those materials, produced on behalf of a film distributor for
delivery to a theatre or other similar venue, that contain the completed
audio and video elements of a film. Such materials are used by the theatre
or other similar venue to exhibit the film to its customers.
Firm commitment. An agreement with a third party that is binding on
both parties. The agreement specifies all significant terms, including
items to be exchanged, consideration, and timing of the transaction. The
agreement includes a disincentive for nonperformance that is sufficiently
large to ensure the expected performance. In the context of episodic tele
vision series, a firm com mitment for future production should include
only episodes to be delivered within one year from the date of the esti
mate of ultimate revenue.
Market. A distribution channel within a certain territory. Examples of
markets include theatrical exhibition, home video, pay television, free
television, and the licensing of film-related products.
65

Nonrefundable minimum guarantee. Amount paid or payable by a cus
tomer in a variable fee arrangement that guarantees an entity a minimum
fee on that arrangement. Such a guarantee applies to (a) an amount paid
by a customer immediately and (b) an amount that the customer has a
legally binding commitment to pay over a license period.
Participation costs. Parties involved in the production of a film may be
compensated in part by contingent payments based on the financial re
sults of a film pursuant to contractual formulas (participations) and by
contingent amounts due under provisions of collective bargaining agree
ments (residuals). Such parties are collectively referred to as partici
pants, and such costs are referred to collectively as participation costs.
Participations may be given to creative talent, such as actors or writers,
or to entities from whom distribution rights are licensed.
Producer. An individual or an entity that produces and has a financial in
terest in films for exhibition in movie theaters, on television, or elsewhere.
Revenue. Revenue earned by an entity from its direct distribution, ex
ploitation, or licensing of a film, before deduction for any of the entity’s
direct costs of distribution. For markets and territories in which an en
tity’s fully or jointly-owned films are distributed by third parties, rev
enue is the n et am ounts payable to the en tity by third party
distributors. Revenue is reduced by appropriate allowances, estimated
returns, price concessions, or similar adjustments, as applicable.
Sale. The transfer of control of the master copy of a film and all the as
sociated rights that go along with it (that is, an entity sells and gives up
all rights to a film). An entity should determine a gain or loss on the sale
of a film in accordance with the revenue recognition and cost amortiza
tion requirements of this SOP.
Set for production. As used in this SOP, this term means (a) manage
ment, with the relevant authority, implicitly or explicitly authorizes and
commits to funding the production of a film; ( b ) active preproduction
has begun; and (c) the start of principal photography is expected to
begin within six months.
Territory. A geographic area in which a film is exploited. In most cases,
a territory consists of a country. However, in certain instances, a terri
tory may be defined as countries with a common language.
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